2000

W, Tustian and Snowbird Trust v. Karen H.
Schriever, Deer Credit Services, Brent Madsen,
First District Court : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

Appeal is from the First District Court in and for Box Elder County, State of Utah, the Honorable Clint S. Judkins, presiding.

Appeal is taken to the Supreme Court of the State of Utah pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 78-2-2 and Rule 3(a), Utah Rules of Appellant Procedure, allowing appeal from all final orders and judgments of the District Courts.

Appellant Schriever appeals from Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order Granting Deere Credit's Cross-Motion For Summary Judgment Setting Priorities to Excess Proceeds Pursuant to Rule

4-507, Rules of Judicial Admin., entered February 23, 2000 and from the Judgment ordering disbursement of the Excess Proceeds to Deere of the same date.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

(1) Where there was no "fixture filing", did Deere's Purchase Money Security Interest (PMSI) in a manufactured home have priority over Schriever's judgment lien with regard to excess proceeds from a trust deed foreclosure sale?

(2) Did the filing of a UCC-1 financing statement by Deere Credit with the Utah State Department of Corporations covering a manufactured home create a perfected security interest in a building lot to which the home was affixed?

(3) Is an "affidavit of affixture" necessary to "legally affix" a manufactured home to a building lot and does the absence of such excuse Deere from making a fixture filing to perfect a security interest in the fixture?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This matter was before the Trial Court on Appellees' Motion For Summary Judgment. Because the issues raised are questions of law this Court should give the Trial Court's ruling no deference and review it under a correctness standard. Logan v. Utah Power & Light Co. 796 2d 697 (Utah 1990).

A STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At issue is ownership of excess proceeds from a trust deed foreclosure sale deposited with the Clerk of the First District

Court of Box Elder County. The trial court disbursed the funds to appellee Deere Credit pursuant to Conclusions Of Law which include the following:

5. After the trustee's sale, Deere's perfected PMSI continued in the proceeds of the sale of the Modular Home under Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-306(3)(b) because Deere's UCC-1 covered the original collateral and the proceeds, which are held by this Court, are identifiable cash proceeds. Accordingly, Deere's perfected PMSI in the Excess Proceeds has priority over Schriever's and Tustian's claims. (R.546)

7. Alternatively, even assuming the Modular Home were physically affixed to the property, Deere was not obligated to file a fixture filing because the home was not legally affixed to the Property. Under Utah Code Ann. §59-2-602(1), an affidavit of affixture must be filed for a mobile or manufactured home to be considered legally affixed. Because no affidavit of affixture for the Modular Home has been filed by any party, it was not legally affixed and therefore no fixture filing was necessary to maintain Deere's perfected PMSI in the proceeds of the sale of the Modular Home. (R. 547)

8. Accordingly, Deere has priority to Excess Proceeds over all other potential claimants. (R.547)

A copy of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order Setting Priorities to Excess Proceeds Pursuant to Rule 4-507 is herewith attached as Addendum I. The Court's Judgment awarding excess proceeds to Deere is attached as Addendum 2.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

1. The owner of record of the subject real property was "Pinnacle Financial Services, Inc. d.b.a. Outlook Homes, Inc." an Oregon Corporation hereafter referred to as "Pinnacle."

2. Pinnacle was engaged in the business of selling manufactured homes at a sales lot in Harrisville, Weber County, Utah. It operated the lot under the name "Outlook Homes, Inc."

3. In April of 1996, Appellee, Deere Credit Services filed a UCC-1 financing statement with the Utah Department of Commerce, Division of Corporations evidencing a security interest in Pinnacle's inventory held for sale at any of its locations. The filing lists Pinnacle's address as 1341 Washington Blvd, Ogden, Utah 84404 and does not specifically mention Outlook Homes, Inc. or Outlook's sales lot in Harrisville, Weber County, Utah. (R.364)

4. Deere's UCC-1 filing makes no reference to or claim upon any of Pinnacle's real estate.

5. In October of 1996, Deere extended credit to Pinnacle for the purchase of a certain Moduline manufactured home, serial no. 116366. Deere received the Manufacturer's Statement of Origin (MSO) for the manufactured home. (R. 426).

6. The manufactured home was not held as inventory for sale for any determinable time. The home was placed on a foundation on a building lot owned by Pinnacle near Tremonton, Box Elder County, Utah.

7. At approximately the same time Pinnacle placed the manufactured home on the building lot, Pinnacle borrowed \$35,000.00 from Sodbury LTD. pledging the building lot as security for the loan. A Trust Deed evidencing the obligation was recorded February 14, 1997 at the Box Elder County Recorder's office in Brigham City.

8. Deere Credit was notified, by Pinnacle's agent, in October, 1997 that the manufactured home was no longer on Pinnacle's sales lot in Weber County and had been relocated to real

property in Box Elder County. (Peters Affidavit ¶13 R.446).

9. No Certificate of Title or affidavit of affixture was issued with respect to the manufactured home. (Peters affidavit ¶14 R. 447). The MSO is the only document evidencing ownership of the subject manufactured home. (R.405) The MSO is not of official record with the State of Utah, Weber County where the home was claimed to be inventory, nor Box Elder County where the home was affixed to real estate.

10. Pinnacle defaulted on its obligation to Sodbury, LTD. and on November 26, 1997, the Successor Trustee, under the above referenced Trust Deed, recorded a Notice of Default.

11. On January 6, 1998, Judgment was entered in the District Court of Weber County, State of Utah, Civil No. 970907243, for the principal sum of \$71,168.00, against Pinnacle Financial Services, Inc. dba Outlook Homes, Inc. in favor of appellant Karen Schriever.

12. A Transcript of the Schriever judgment was docketed in the First District Court in Brigham City on January 7, 1998. (R. 212)

13. On March 11, 1998 defendant Schriever obtained a Writ of Execution from the First District court ordering the Box Elder County Sheriff to levy upon and sell the subject property of Pinnacle Financial Service, Inc. dba Outlook Homes, Inc. (R.214). On March 12, 1998 the property was attached by the Box Elder County Sheriff pursuant to Karen H. Schriever's judgment. (R.161)

15. On April 1, 1998 the subject property was sold at public auction at a non-judicial Trust Deed foreclosure sale. The

property was purchased by appellant Karen Schriever. (R.162)

16. Excess proceeds from the Trust Deed foreclosure sale in the amount of \$25,155.56 were deposited by Trustee, Melvin E. Smith, with the Clerk of the District Court of Box Elder County, pursuant to §57-1-29, Utah Code Annotated. (R.164).

17. On the 28th day of April, 1998, Pinnacle's remaining interest in the subject property was sold at a sheriff's sale pursuant to appellant Karen Schriever's Writ of Execution. Pinnacle's interest was purchased by Schriever. (R.507)

18. Neither Pinnacle nor its creditors, including Deere, made any attempt to redeem Pinnacle's interest in the property and on October 29, 1998 a Sheriff's deed was issued. (R. 506)

19. On April 6, 1998, Trustee, Melvin E. Smith, deposited \$25,155.56 as excess proceeds from the trustee's sale with the Clerk of the District Court of Box Elder County. Trustee Smith gave notice of his action to known claimants at the time of the deposit including Deere's counsel Paul W. Werner. (R.122)

20. When the Court Clerk failed to give notice to claimants within 10 days as required under Rule 4-507, Tustian filed a claim, pro-se. Schriever answered and moved for Summary Judgment. Deere refused to answer and on two occasions successfully moved to "quash" Tustian's Complaint. In neither instance did Deere assert any interest in the escrowed funds. (R.14 and R.56).

21. On December 10, 1998, more than nine months after the funds were deposited into court, Deere gave notice of its claim of priority to the excess proceeds from the trustee's sale. (R.255)

ARGUMENT

POINT 1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS CONCLUSION THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW THE FILING OF A UCC-1 FINANCING STATEMENT BY DEERE CREDIT CREATED A PERFECTED SECURITY INTEREST IN THE PROCEEDS FROM A TRUST DEED FORECLOSURE SALE OF A RESIDENTIAL LOT TO WHICH THE COLLATERAL WAS AFFIXED.

The Trial Court's Conclusion Of Law Number 5, states as follows:

After the trustee's sale, Deere's perfected PMSI continued in the proceeds of the sale of the Modular Home under Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-306(3)(b) because Deere's UCC-1 covered the original collateral and the proceeds, which are held by this Court, are identifiable cash proceeds. Accordingly, Deere's perfected PMSI in the Excess Proceeds has priority over Schriever's and Tustian's claims.

By filing a UCC-1 financing statement with the Division of Corporations Deere perfected a security interest in Pinnacle's inventory, however, Deere's agreement with Pinnacle cannot be the basis for a continued perfected security interest in the manufactured home after it was taken out of inventory and attached and sold as an improvement to real property. See Webb v. Interstate Land Corp. 920 P.2d 1187 (Utah 1996).

Deere's UCC-1 filing does not entitle Deere to any rights to excess proceeds from a trustee's sale of real estate. Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-306(3) deals with a secured party's rights "on disposition of collateral or debtor's insolvency. It does not purport to deal with priority of security interests in fixtures.

There was no identifiable sale of Deere's collateral (the Moduline manufactured home) at the Trustee's sale and there is no way possible way to apportion the proceeds of the sale between the real estate and the affixed home.

Priority of security interests in fixtures is addressed specifically under Utah Code Ann. 70A-9-313(7) and 70A-9-314.

POINT 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS CONCLUSION THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW AN "AFFIDAVIT OF AFFIXTURE" IS REQUIRED TO LEGALLY AFFIX A MANUFACTURED HOME TO A BUILDING LOT AND THE ABSENCE OF SUCH EXCUSED DEERE FROM MAKING A FIXTURE FILING TO PERFECT A SECURITY INTEREST IN THE RESIDENTIAL LOT TO WHICH THE HOME WAS PHYSICALLY AFFIXED.

The Trial Court's Conclusion Of Law Number 7, states as follows:

Alternatively, even assuming the Modular Home were physically affixed to the property, Deere was not obligated to file a fixture filing because the home was not legally affixed to the Property. Under Utah Code Ann. §59-2-602(1), an affidavit of affixture must be filed for a mobile or manufacture home to be considered legally affixed. Because no affidavit of affixture for the Modular Home has been filed by any party, it was not legally affixed and therefore no fixture filing was necessary to maintain Deere's perfected PMSI in the proceeds of the sale of the Modular Home.

Even a cursory reading of Utah Code Ann. §59-2-602(1), discloses that the statute deals only with taxation of mobile homes as improvement to real property. It merely provides a means by which the owner of real property to which a mobile home is permanently affixed may have the mobile home taxed as real property instead of being taxed as "personal property".

The statute does not even purport to identify when a manufactured home is "legally affixed" to a residential lot for purpose of secured interests.

Deere's pleadings throughout the litigation assert that no affixture of the manufactured home occurred in as much as Deere at no time made a "fixture filing". Nonsense. For purposes of

secured interests, Utah Code Annotated 70A-9-313(1)(a) provides:

(a) goods are "fixtures" when they become so related to particular real estate that an interest in them arises under real estate law;

The trial Court erred in concluding that manufactured home was not "legally affixed" to the subject real estate and that Deere could create a secured interest, in the fixture, paramount to appellant Schriever's judgment lien simply by relying on a PMSI. Utah Code Ann. §59-2-602(1) has no application as to priority of security interests in fixtures.

POINT 3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS CONCLUSION THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW DEERE'S CLAIMED PURCHASE MONEY SECURITY INTEREST (PMSI) HAS PRIORITY OVER SCHRIEVER'S JUDGMENT LIEN.

The Trial Court's Conclusion Of Law Number 8, states as follows:

Accordingly, Deere has priority to Excess Proceeds over all other potential claimants.

Utah Code Annotated 70A-9-313 establishes the priority of security interests in fixtures. It outlines the proper procedure for converting a PMSI to a perfected interest in fixtures. The procedure requires a "fixture filing". In 70A-9-313(1)(b) a "fixture filing" is described as follows:

(b) a "fixture filing" is the filing in the office of the county recorder in each county in this state in which any mortgage on the real estate would be recorded of a financing statement covering goods which are to become fixtures and conforming to the requirements of Subsection 70A-9-402(5);

Subsection 70A-9-402(5) provides that a financing statement filed as a fixture filing under Section 70A-9-313;

...must show that it covers this type of collateral, must recite that it is to be recorded in the real estate records of the county recorder and the financing statement...must contain a legal description of the real estate and must specify the name of the record owner.

Deere had no perfected security interest in the subject real estate and the description of its collateral in its UCC-1 filing makes no claim on Pinnacle's real estate. Furthermore, real estate is not collateral in which a security interest may be perfected by filing in the office or offices of the state Department of Corporations. The only place where one can perfect a security interest in real estate is the office of the County Recorder in the county where the real estate is located.

Utah Code Annotated 70A-9-313(4) provides for priority of a PMSI over a judgment lien only where there has been a fixture filing creating a "perfected security interest" in a fixture as provided in that section. As previously shown, Deere had made no "fixture filing" and had no perfected security interest in the fixture.

Where there has been no fixture filing U.C.A. 70A-9-313(7) provides that a security interest in fixtures "is subordinate to the conflicting interest of an encumbrancer or owner of the related real estate who is not the debtor."

Accordingly, any security interest Deere had was subordinate to Schriever's judgment lien.

See also Utah Code Ann. 70A-9-314(3) Accessions. Under Utah's Accessions statute, a security interest in goods which attaches before they are installed in or affixed to other goods does not

take priority over:

- (a) a subsequent purchaser for value of any interest in the whole; or
- (b) a creditor with a lien on the whole subsequently obtained by judicial proceedings.

Appellant Schriever was both. She was a subsequent purchaser for value of the property including the fixture. She bought the whole at the trustee's sale. She was also a creditor with a judgment lien on the entire property.

CONCLUSION