2000

Karen H. Schriever v. Deere Credit Services Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court properly held that Deere had priority to the Excess Proceeds over Schriever for three reasons. First, Deere held a perfected security interest in the Modular Home, and after the trustee's sale of the Home, Deere's perfected PMSI attached automatically to the proceeds of the sale of the Home. Second, no fixture filing was required for Deere to maintain its security interest in the Modular Home regardless of affixture, because Deere had already perfected its interest in the Modular Home in its UCC-1 filing. Third, even assuming the Modular Home were physically affixed to real property, no fixture filing was required for Deere to maintain its perfected security interest in the Modular Home, because the Home was not legally affixed to real property under Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-602. Accordingly, the district court properly determined that Deere has priority over Schriever for the Excess Proceeds.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Correctly Held that Under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(3) Deere's Perfected PMSI in the Modular Home Attached to the Proceeds of the Trustee's Sale of the Modular Home.

In her brief, Schriever concedes that Deere obtained a perfected PMSI under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-302(3)(b) when it filed its UCC-1. (Schriever's Br. at 7.) Moreover, it is undisputed that the Modular Home was never sold prior to the trustee's sale. Accordingly, Schriever does not attack the district court holding that Deere perfected PMSI in the Modular Home continued in the Home until the Home was sold by the Trustee on April 1, 1998. (R. 546 at ¶ 3-4.)

Instead, Schriever argues that once the Modular Home was attached to the Tremonton Property, Deere's perfected PMSI ended. Schriever is wrong. If Deere were claiming that it currently had a perfected security interest in the Modular Home itself, and had Pinnacle sold the Modular Home, the sale might have extinguished Deere's security interest in the Home. Id.¹ However, Pinnacle never sold the Modular Home.² Instead,

¹ Lien filings for mobile homes (and other vehicles subject to § 41-1a-501) which are held as inventory are governed by § 41-1a-601(2) which states that "[s]ecurity interests in inventory consisting in part of vehicles subject to registration under this chapter, that are held for sale by a person in the business of selling goods of that kind, shall be perfected under Section 70A-9-302" Utah Code Ann. § 41-1a-601(2). Under Section 70A-9-302(1), "[a] financing statement must be filed to perfect all security interests." This is exactly what Deere did to secure its security interest in the Modular Home.

² Schriever concedes that the only existing evidence of ownership of the Modular Home (prior to the trustee's sale) is the MSO, which is in Deere's possession. (Schriever's Opening Br. at 5, ¶ 9.) The MSO is a prerequisite to obtaining a certificate

the trustee under the Sodberry Trust Deed sold the Modular Home and deposited the Excess Proceeds with the Court. The Excess Proceeds from a trustee's sale now stand in the place of the Modular Home as collateral. It is in the Excess Proceeds, not in the Modular Home itself, which Deere now has a perfected security interest. Section 70A-9-306(3)(b) of the UCC sets forth the rules for maintaining a perfected security interest in proceeds. This provision states:

The security interest in proceeds is a continuously perfected security interest if the interest in the original collateral was perfected but ceases to be a perfected security interest and becomes unperfected after ten days after receipt of the proceeds by the debtor unless

....

(b) a filed financing statement covers the original collateral and the proceeds are identifiable cash proceeds.

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(3)(b).

The term “proceeds” is defined as “whatever is received upon the sale, lease, exchange, collection, or other disposition of collateral.” Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(1). Thus, after the disposition of secured goods, this provision operates to protect the security interest on the resulting proceeds automatically for ten days, and indefinitely thereafter if “a filed financing statement covers the original collateral and the proceeds are identifiable cash proceeds.” Id. § 70A-9-306(3)(b).

Applying Section 70A-9-306(3)(b) to this case, Deere clearly maintained a continuously perfected security interest in the Excess Proceeds. The Excess Proceeds

of title. Utah Code Ann. §§ 41-1a-508, -509, - 710.

arose out of the trustee's sale of the Modular Home and therefore constitute "proceeds" under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(1). Deere's perfected security interest in the Excess Proceeds continues because Deere's UCC-1 statement covered the original collateral (i.e., the Modular Home as inventory) and the Excess Proceeds are cash proceeds that were readily identifiable and held in the district court's trust account. Accordingly, the district court properly held that under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(3)(b), Deere's security interest attached to the Excess Proceeds after the trustee's sale and remained continuously valid. (R. 546 at ¶ 5.)

II. The District Court Correctly Rejected Schriever's Argument that Deere Was Required to File a Fixture Filing to Maintain Its Perfected Security Interest in the Modular Home.

Schriever principal objection to the district court's order is her belief that once the Modular Home became affixed,³ Deere lost its perfected security interest in the Modular Home because Deere did not file a fixture filing. Therefore, according to Schriever,

³ Schriever assumes that the Modular Home was physically affixed to property. However, this fact is disputed. In fact, there is nothing in the record suggesting that the Modular Home was physically affixed. Because this fact is disputed, it was not a basis for the the district court's ruling. Indeed, this disputed fact is immaterial to the resolution of this case because, as the district court properly determined, the statutory priority rules favor Deere over Schriever regardless of physical affixture. (R. 546-47 at ¶¶ 6-7.)

Even if this court were persuaded by Schriever's legal argument, Schriever is not entitled to the request she seeks (namely to have the district court disburse the funds to Schriever, see Schreiver Opening Br. at 11) because there is no evidence of physical attachment to real property. In fact, the Trustee described the Modular Home as "personalty." (R. 271 ("John Deere . . . may claim some interest in the excess proceeds as a secured creditor with a security interest in personalty located on the property."))

Deere's failure to file a fixture filing renders any claim it may have to the Excess Proceeds inferior to Appellant Schriever's judgment lien.

Even assuming the Modular Home was physically affixed to the Tremonton Property, Schriever's argument fails for two reasons: (1) Deere was not required to file a fixture filing to maintain its perfected security interest in the Modular Home because Deere had already perfected its interest in the Home in its UCC-1 filing; and (2) Deere was not required to file a fixture filing because the Modular Home was not *legally* affixed to real property under Utah law for purposes of maintaining security interests.

A. Under Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-313(4)(d), No Fixture Filing Was Required to Maintain Deere's Perfected PMSI in the Modular Home Because Deere Had Already Perfected Its Interest in Its UCC-1 Filing.

In arguing that Deere should have filed a fixture filing, Schriever ignores Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-313(4)(d). This section states:

A perfected security interest in fixtures has priority over the conflicting interest of an encumbrancer . . . of the real estate where:

. . . .

(d) the conflicting interest is a lien on the real estate obtained by legal or equitable proceedings after the security interest was perfected by any method permitted by this chapter.

Id. (emphasis added).

This statute is clear: a security interest in a good which is perfected "by any method" will have priority over any subsequent legal or equitable lien even though the

good later becomes physically affixed to land without having to file a fixture filing.⁴

According to the UCC commentators:

[P]riority based on precedence in filing or recording is preserved, but there is no requirement that . . . the prior filing of the fixture security interest [i.e., a fixture filing] must be in the real estate records. . . . Thus, even a prior filing in the chattel records [i.e., a UCC-1] protects the priority of a fixture security interest against a subsequent judgment lien.

Uniform Commercial Code, § 9-313, cmt 4(c) (emphasis added) (Exhibit H). Other authorities have reached the same conclusion. See William D. Hawkland, et al., Uniform Commercial Code Series § 9-313:05 (Exhibit F) (“[T]here is no additional requirement that the security interest in fixtures be perfected as a fixture filing Thus, so long as the fixture financier perfects his interest in any manner permitted under Article 9, he will prevail against lien creditors.”); 4 James J. White & Robert S. Summers, Uniform Commercial Code § 33-10(c), at 346 (4th ed. 1995) (“The drafters of 9-313(4)(d) believed that the trustee in bankruptcy, like the ordinary judgment creditor, was not a reliance creditor and thus should be subordinated to any secured creditor who had perfected by any method, i.e., a personalty filing in the Article 9 files or a fixture filing in the real estate records.”).

The case law applying section 9-313(d)(4) also recognizes that no fixture filing is required to maintain a perfected security interest under section 9-313(4)(d). For example,

⁴ This is consistent with the other relevant portions of the UCC. See Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-313(2) (“A security interest under this chapter . . . may continue in goods which become fixtures.”); id. (“A filing which is made in the proper place in this state continues effective even though the . . . collateral or its use . . . is thereafter changed.”).

in In re Lucero, 203 B.R.322, 324-25 (10th Cir. BAP 1996), a bankruptcy trustee sought to avoid a previously perfected lien on a debtor's mobile home by arguing (like Schriever) that the holder of the lien should have filed a fixture filing. The Tenth Circuit Bankruptcy Appeals Panel rejected this argument by recognizing that section 9-313(4)(d) exempts previously perfected secured parties from having to file a fixture filing.⁵ Similarly, in In re Allen, 221 B.R. 232 (S.D. Ill. 1998), the court stated:

In the majority of fixture priority disputes, the security interest must be perfected by filing a financing statement in the real estate records-- known as a "fixture filing" . . . --in order to prevail over a preexisting or subsequently recorded interest in the real estate. However, under § 9-313(4)(d), when the conflicting real estate interest is a judgment lien acquired after perfection of the fixture security interest, such perfection need not be by filing in the real estate records, but may be by any method permitted by [Article 9].

Id. at 233-34 (emphasis added).

Thus, the clear language of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-313(4)(d), the applicable case law, and the commentators' analysis of this section all point to one conclusion: that Deere did not have to file a fixture filing to maintain its security interest in the Modular Home. Instead, because Deere had previously perfected its security interest in the Modular Home, Deere's security interest remained perfected regardless of affixture.

⁵ The BAP also noted that the parties' arguments of whether the mobile home had become attached "overlook the most relevant provisions of . . . state law," referring specifically to section 9-313(4)(d). 203 B.R. at 324. This Court should recognize that the arguments of affixture by the parties in this case are of secondary importance behind the application of section 9-313(4)(d).

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the district court's Judgment awarding Deere the Excess Proceeds.

B. Deere Was Not Required to File a Fixture Filing Because the Modular Home Was Not Legally Affixed to Real Property Under Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-602.

Deere was also not required to file a fixture filing under Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-602 because this section draws a distinction between *physical* and *legal* affixture. This statute states:

[A]ny person owning a manufactured home or mobile home and owning the real property to which the manufactured home or mobile home is permanently affixed who seeks to have the manufactured home or mobile home qualify as an improvement to real property may file an affidavit of affixture with the county recorder of the county in which the real property is located.

Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-602(1) (emphasis added.) Thus, under this provision, a mobile or manufactured home may be physically affixed to land, but still not qualify as a legal fixture to the land. To qualify as a legal fixture, this section requires an owner to file an affidavit of affixture. Here, it is undisputed that no affidavit of affixture was filed. (See Schriever's Opening Br. at 5, ¶ 9 ("No . . . affidavit of affixture was issued with respect to the [Modular Home].).) Thus, the Modular Home, even if physically affixed, was not legally affixed for the Mobile Home "to qualify as an improvement to real property." Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-602(1).

Schriever argues that Section 59-2-602 deals only with taxation of manufactured homes, and therefore, does not purport to identify when a manufactured home becomes

“legally affixed” for purposes of secured interests. Schriever’s argument ignores the plain language of Section 59-2-602. Indeed, the Utah Code specifically provides that:

Upon recording of the affidavit of affixture and the receipt of surrender [i.e., the MSO or the title], the manufactured home or mobile home is for all purposes an improvement upon real property. A lien on the manufactured home or mobile home shall be perfected in the manner provided for the perfection of a lien on real property.

Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-602(5) (emphasis added).

In other words, under Utah law, it is only at that time an owner files an affidavit of affixture that a party must make a fixture filing to maintain a perfected interest in a manufactured home. Applying Sections 59-2-602(1) & (5) in this manner dovetails perfectly with Section 70A-9-313(4)(d) discussed above. In this case, no affidavit of affixture was ever filed by Pinnacle, or any other party. Therefore, the Modular Home did not qualify as a legal fixture to land. Because the Modular Home never became legally affixed to land, Deere was not required to file a fixture filing to maintain its perfected PMSI.⁶

In sum, the resolution of this case is straightforward: Deere obtained a perfected PMSI in the Modular Home by filing a UCC-1. Deere’s perfected PMSI continued until the trustee’s sale of the Home, at which time Deere’s security interest attached

⁶ Schriever cites to Webb v. Interstate Land Corp., 920 P.2d 1187 (Utah 1986) in his argument that Deere should have filed a fixture filing. However, Webb does not help Schriever. Webb is simply a restatement of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-313(1)(a) and (b). The Webb court did not address Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-313(4)(d) nor § 59-2-602, nor did the Court have a reason to do so. Thus, Webb is inapplicable to this case.